NIGHT GAME IN THE OLD GRIFFITH STADIUM AS SEEN FROM LE DROIT PARK
Le Droit Park
Historic District

42.6 acre site roughly bounded by Rhode Island and Florida Avenues, NW, on the south, Howard University on the west, Elm Street on the north, and 2nd Street, NW on the east. Includes approximately 100 buildings c. 1873-1910. Included in the D.C. Inventory of Historic Sites and listed in the National Register of Historic Places.

- Early example of a planned, architecturally unified suburban subdivision.
- Important concentration of houses designed by noted local architect James McGill in the style of A. J. Downing.
- Home of many educators at Howard University and other prominent African American Washingtonians.
- Site of early efforts to achieve equal housing in a segregated, white neighborhood.
- Includes the Mary Church Terrell House, 326 T Street, NW, a National Historic Landmark.

Restoring or renovating your Le Droit Park home?
Call the D.C. Historic Preservation Division.
An historic preservation professional is assigned to assist you with technical information.
202-727-7360

The Le Droit Park Historical Society, founded in 1977, has been the leader in initiatives to preserve the special ambience and historic character which make Le Droit Park an exciting place to live. The Society has successfully resisted attempts by Howard University to encroach upon the historic district for campus expansion. In 1982 the Society figured prominently in the restoration of the Anna J. Cooper Memorial Circle by the D.C. Government. The Society has also appeared often before the D.C. Historic Preservation Review Board to assist residents seeking approval of alterations which will preserve and enhance the historic character of Le Droit Park. Mrs. Theresa Brown has been president of the Society since its founding.

Suggested Reading:

Terrell, Mary Church. *A Colored Woman in a White World.*

Washington History magazine, a publication of the Historical Society of Washington, D.C., 1307 New Hampshire Avenue, NW.


On the cover: “Ball Park” Painted by Le Droit resident and artist Hilda Wilkinson Brown. Courtesy Honece Ward, Bethesda, Maryland

Architectural renderings, throughout this publication, from Le Droit Park Illustrated and John H. McGill's Architectural Advertiser, courtesy of the Historical Society of Washington, D.C.

The suburban residential community, packaged by a developer promising a unique lifestyle to prospective home-buyers, has long been a staple of the Washington real estate market. Rural land is purchased, subdivided, and laid out in streets. Model homes are built and a prospectus published. Although the land is farther out than previous urban development and has therefore been purchased more cheaply, convenience of transportation to work, shopping, schools, recreation, and cultural amenities are touted. Assurances are given that the community will be prestigious and advantageous in every way to purchasers. A fence is built with an elaborate entrance and appearance on the approach street. It defines the community and reassures home purchasers that their real estate investment will be secure and the developer's vision will become their reality. This development format can be discovered anew today in outlying rural Virginia and Maryland counties in the National Capital Region.

In 1873, Le Droit Park, one of the earliest and most historically significant of such communities, was created on Boundary Street (Florida Avenue) between Second and Seventh Streets, NW, in what was then rural Washington County, District of Columbia. To the north the site was adjacent to the newly established Howard University. Amzi L. Barber, one of the founders of Howard, married the daughter of the successful real estate broker, Le Droit Langdon. Resigning his post at Howard in 1873, he went into business with his brother-in-law, Andrew Langdon, establishing the real
estate development firm of A. L. Barber & Co. Four tracts of land were assembled, combined, surveyed, subdivided, and named Le Droit Park. Two of the tracts had been used as private residential grounds, one as a pasture and the last as a public common. Although the university had been chartered to serve African Americans, and many Howard professors were African American, homes in the new development were to be sold to whites only.

This was the perfect setting for a community of substantial dwellings designed after the popular rural landscape ideal set forth by Andrew Jackson Downing in his 1850 volume of sketches and plans, *The Architecture of Country Houses*. Washington architect and developer James H. McGill was selected to design the Le Droit Park community. His sketches and floor plans in the Downing manner were published in an 1877 development prospectus, "Le Droit Park Illustrated," and in a larger 1879 publication, "Architectural Advertiser." The style of the houses was described as:

"as varied exterior character as architectural skill will devise—neither being alike—and are noted for the convenience and completeness of this internal arrangement. All have open halls and stairways, liberal sized rooms, pantries, china closets, bedroom closets, bath rooms, cellars, and are supplied with ranges, bells, gas, water and sewerage. Boy windows, piazzas, balconies, conservatories, are built on most of them, and all are tastefully finished alike on all sides, so that the outlook from each is cheerful and agreeable."

The prospectus noted that "no cheap structures will under any circumstances be permitted, and none will be encouraged but such as will enhance both the value of the adjoining property and the comfort of its occupants."

The prospectus linked the new community aesthetically with Franklin Park, the U. S. Capitol grounds, and the Soldiers' Home. These locations of agreeable public resort were landscaped in the romantic manner popularized by Downing and Frederick Law Olmsted. Olmsted, designer of Central Park in New York City, was then at work on the Capitol terraces and grounds. Franklin

Park, center of one of the most fashionable residential neighborhoods in the city, had, with the departure of Union troops, recently been landscaped in the same style. The southern gates of the Soldiers' Home, with its extensive rural grounds, were then much closer to Le Droit Park, and the prospectus anticipated that extension of Harewood Avenue to those gates would bring many visitors through the Le Droit Park community. Nine blocks to the east on Boundary Street, Olmsted, Vaux & Co. were designing the campus of the Columbia Institution for the Deaf, Dumb, and Blind (now Gallaudet College) in the romantic rural landscape style.

Then as now, location and ease of commuting to the workplace were of primary consideration to the prospective purchasers of suburban properties. The developers' prospectus noted that Le Droit Park was "only twelve squares from the Post Office, fifteen squares from the Capitol and seventeen squares from the Treasury—a twenty minute walk at a moderate pace. While, outside the city limits, it is nearer the Post Office than one-half the ground actually within the city boundaries;—it is nearer the Post Office than the greater part of 'Capitol Hill,' or 'South Washington,' or 'The West End.'"

In addition, Le Droit Park was at a hub of the rapidly developing public transportation system.
"The Ninth street line of the Metropolitan railroad and the Seventh street line of the Washington and Georgetown road run their cars directly to the Western angle of the Park, being less than one square to the Sixth street entrance. The new Belt line now run their cars around the corner of Fourth and P streets, within three squares, and by their charter are allowed to reach the Park. In addition to these street car lines another line is proposed to run from the center of the city through the middle of Le Droit Park, and out to the Soldiers' Home."

By January, 1877, forty-one residences and two stables had been completed at a cost of approximately $200,000. Eight of these, erected at a cost of $4000 to $12,000 each, were on the north, and two occupied the south side of Maple Avenue. Ten houses on the north and ten on the south side of Spruce Street were erected at a cost of $3500 each. Two houses on the north side of Elm Street cost $3000 each. Four houses on the east side and five on the west side of Harewood Avenue were erected at a cost of $4000 to $10,000 each. In addition, the developers had prepared the site by erecting a handsome brick and iron fence along the front of the subdivision and a high board fence along the rear. All interior fences were removed and the lots combined to form a "continuous green sward." Streets were graded, graveled and guttered with stone and brick. Brick sidewalks were provided and sewer, water, and gas mains laid. Ornamental shade trees and hedges were extensively planted. These site improvements cost $54,000. The Le Droit Park houses were marketed to businessmen and professionals:

"A residence that can be pleasantly occupied by his family during the entire year is best suited for the merchant, professional man or government clerk. One that has sufficient open ground around it, and is so constructed as to admit a free circulation of pure air, so as to be cool and comfortable during the summer months, and yet located convenient enough to his place of business, and surrounded by suitable improvements, to make it desirable for occupancy during the winter. One that is far enough away from the noise and bustle of commercial activity to secure quiet and moderate sedation, yet near enough to enjoy the luxuries of city conveniences as well as the society of friendly neighbors."

During the Civil War, President Abraham Lincoln had come this way in search of just this quality of life, spending his summers at Anderson House on the grounds of the Soldiers’ Home. Here, in 1862, he wrote the draft of the Emancipation Proclamation.

By 1887, some 64 houses had been built. The promised bucolic, village-like atmosphere was created. Many years later residents wistfully recalled that Le Droit Park had been known as the flower garden of Washington. Prominent residents included James H. McGill, architect of the subdivision; General William Birney; Arthur Birney, professor of law at Howard; General William Wade Dudley; Benjamin Butterworth, congressman from Ohio and later Commissioner of Patents; E. B. Barnum, Washington representative of the New York clothing house of Devlin & Co.; and Henry Gannett, geologist, father of American map-making, and president of the Cosmos Club.

The 1877 prospectus enthusiastically declared that Le Droit Park "lies in the direct line of the natural growth of the city, and is the nearest, the cheapest and the best suburban property in the District of Columbia." This happy situation became a disadvantage as the natural growth of the city encroached upon the idyllic village. Howard Town, an African American community whose residents included many Howard University professors, was located along the northern boundary of Le Droit Park. The board fence separating Le Droit Park from Howard Town became a focus of dissension. Residents of Howard Town were impatient with the inconvenience being forced to go around, instead of through, this sequestered white community. Impatience turned to resentment over racial segregation. Climbing the fence to cut through Le Droit Park was followed by legal actions to have the fence removed. Finally, in July of 1888, the fence was torn down by protesting African Americans. Although it was quickly rebuilt, the point had been made. By 1891 the fence was abandoned. Traffic flowed through Le Droit Park as the village was assimilated into the city. Streets were renamed to correspond to the city streets, row-houses were built on undeveloped lots, and the illusion of a romantic, rural community hidden in the midst of the city was lost.
MAP OF LE DROIT PARK

Historic District boundaries superimposed on 1877 map of Le Droit Park, published in Le Droit Park Illustrated. Rhode Island Avenue has since been extended through Le Droit Park. Harewood Avenue was closed north of Le Droit Park for expansion of Howard University campus. Boundary Street is now called Florida Avenue. Original map courtesy: The Historical Society of Washington, D. C.

1. 201 T Street (Maple Avenue). The home of Anna J. Cooper and the Frelinghuysen University.
2. 3rd and T Streets (Harewood and Maple Avenues) on Anna Cooper Circle. Double house constructed for General William Birney and Mr. Arthur Birney.
3. 400 block of U Street (Spruce - indicated in color on map above). The only block which includes all of the original McGill houses with no subsequent construction.
4. 500 block of T Street (Maple Avenue - indicated in color on map above). Several very handsome McGill houses remain.

Model home examples from Le Droit Park Illustrated and James H. McGill's Architectural Advertiser.
The designation of Le Droit Park as an Historic District is a recognition of the vitality of the community's history and its important place in African American cultural life. Today, visitors and residents who experience the neighborhood's beauty and traditions also come to appreciate its unique contribution to the city and the nation.

**PROMINENT AFRICAN AMERICANS WHO LIVED IN LE DROIT INCLUDE:**

**EDWARD BROOKE.** (1919- ) 1938 3rd Street, NW. U.S. Senator. Educated at Dunbar High School, Howard University, Boston University law school, 1st African American elected to state-wide office in Massachusetts (attorney general, 1962). U.S. Senator, Massachusetts 1963-79. Brooke grew up in this house, his family moving to Brookland when he was a student at Howard. His father, Edward Brooke II, was an attorney with the Veterans Administration for 50 years.


**ANNA J. COOPER.** (1858-1964) 201 T Street, NW. Educator. Born a slave, Cooper was one of first black female graduates of Oberlin College (1884) MA also Oberlin, Ph.D. Sorbonne 1924. Dissertation, "The Attitude of France in Regard to Slavery [African] During the Revolution." Taught Latin at M Street and Dunbar High Schools (40 years), principal of M Street (1901-06), president of Freehlinguey University (founded 1906) offering adult education classes to working African Americans unable to attend school during the day. Classes held at her LeDroit Park home for many years.


**OSCAR DE PRIEST.** (1871-1951) 419 U Street, NW. Legislator. First African American alderman elected to Chicago City Council (1915); first African American elected to congress in the twentieth century (1928, 3rd District Illinois).

**PAUL LAURENCE DUNBAR.** (1872-1906) 321 U Street, NW. Poet. First internationally acclaimed African American poet. Published first book of poetry 1892. "Migrant and Minor" acclaimed by Harper's Weekly. Lyrics of "Lone Star" introduced by critic William Dean Howells (1896). Dunbar's reputation has continued to grow since his early death, and he is now one of America's most beloved poets. Author of poem, "I Know Why the Caged Bird Sings."

**CHRISTIAN FLEETWOOD.** (1840-1914) 319 U Street, NW. Army officer. Educated secretly by a Baltimore doctor. One of first African Americans to be awarded Congressional Medal of Honor. 4th Regiment, U.S. Colored Volunteer Infantry. Medal awarded for heroism at Battle of Chaffin's Farm near Richmond, 1864. Employed as clerk, Freedmen's Savings & Trust Co. and War Department 30 years. Organized colored militia and National Guard units in D.C.
JULIA WEST HAMILTON. (1866-1958) 320 U Street, NW. Civic leader. President, Phillips Wheatley YWCA 28 years, 1st woman president board of trustees Metropolitan AME Church (28 years), treasurer predominantly white Women's Relief Corps Auxiliary of the Grand Army of the Republic, National Association of Colored Women, and National Council of Negro Women.

ERNEST E. JUST. (1893-1941) 412 T Street, NW. Educator and research scientist. Graduated Phi Beta Kappa, Dartmouth 1907. Graduate training, Woods Hole Marine Biological Laboratory. Howard University faculty, international reputation as a genetic biologist whose discoveries in embryological research were far in advance of his time.


WILLIS RICHARDSON. 512 U Street, NW. Dramatist. Educated M Street High School. Important dramatist of Harlem Renaissance, first African American to have serious play produced on a Broadway stage. "Chap Woman's Fortune" performed by The Ethiopian Art Players in Chicago, Washington, and New York. "The Broken Banjo" (1925) and "Beethal Low" (1926) both awarded prestigious Amy Spingarn Prize.


JAMES E. WALKER. (1874-1918) 502-504 T Street, NW. Educator. Graduate M Street High School, Miner Teachers' College. Teacher, principal, administrator, D.C. Public Schools for 24 years. Join First Separate Battalion (colored) of the National Guard in 1896; commander, 1912. Unit was the first activated before entry into World War I. Died of illness contracted in line of duty, buried in Arlington Cemetery, 1918.


WALTER WASHINGTON. (1915-) 408 T Street, NW. Civic leader. Howard graduate, active in New Negro Alliance. Head of National Capital Housing Authority. First mayor of the District of Columbia elected under home rule in 1975.

GARNET C. WILKINSON. (1874-1969) 406 U Street, NW. Educator. Graduate M Street High School, Oberlin College (1902), Howard Law School. Principal of Armstrong, 1st Principal of Dunbar, 1st Assistant Superintendent in charge of colored schools for 30 years.

"Langston" by Hilda Wilkinson Brown. Known as the poet laureate and dean of African American poetry, Langston Hughes (1902-67) frequented Le Droit Park intellectual circles from 1924 to 1926. His first volume of poetry, The Weary Blues, was published in 1926. Hughes was the nephew of John Mercer Langston, dean of the Howard Law School. Courtesy Howard University Gallery of Art.

LE DROIT PARK HISTORIC DISTRICT

by

TANYA EDWARDS BEAUCHAMP

A Heritage Tourism Project of

THE GEORGETOWN HERITAGE TRUST

Betty Jane Johnson Gerber, President

Special Thanks to

THE LE DROIT PARK HISTORICAL SOCIETY

Theresa Brown, President

THE HISTORICAL SOCIETY OF WASHINGTON, D.C.

The Le Droit Park Historic District brochure has been funded with the assistance of a matching grant from the U.S. Department of the Interior, National Park Service, through the D.C. Department of Consumer and Regulatory Affairs, Historic Preservation Program, under provisions of the National Historic Preservation Act of 1966, as amended.

The activity that is the subject of this brochure has been financed in part with federal funds from the National Park Service, Department of Interior. However, the contents and opinions do not necessarily reflect the views or policies of the Department of Interior, nor does the mention of trade names or commercial products constitute endorsement or recommendation by the Department of Interior. This document was developed by The Georgetown Heritage Trust, in consultation with the D.C. Historic Preservation Office, District of Columbia Government. Printed 1996.

Marion Barry, Jr., Mayor
Hampton Cross, D.C. State Historic Preservation Officer.

Funded in part through the Dorothea De Schweinitz Fund of the National Trust for Historic Preservation.